Filed 05-27-2021

Page 1 of 18

RECEIVED 05-27-2021 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2019AP1317-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DANIEL J. VAN LINN,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner

On review of a decision of the Court of Appeals affirming the Oconto County Circuit Court, the Honorable Michael T. Judge, presiding

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER

> ANDREW R. HINKEL Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1058128

Office of the State Public Defender P.O. Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 267-1779 hinkela@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner

ISSUE PRESENTED

After Daniel Van Linn was arrested on suspicion of drunk driving, a sheriff's deputy ordered his blood drawn for testing. This draw was illegal, and the circuit court excluded its fruit. After the suppression decision, the prosecutor applied for a subpoena for Mr. Van Linn's medical records to the hospital where he had been treated. The application included the results of the first, suppressed blood test. The court issued the subpoena and the hospital turned over evidence including the results of the blood alcohol test it had conducted. Was the evidence procured by this subpoena the fruit of the state's earlier, unlawful search, such that it should have been suppressed?

The circuit court and the court of appeals refused to suppress the hospital blood test results. This Court should reverse.

POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument and publication of opinions are customary for this Court.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Mr. Van Linn was in a car crash and was transported to a hospital. (23:1-3; App. 115-17). Suspecting that Mr. Van Linn was intoxicated, a

deputy sheriff informed him that he was under arrest and asked him to consent to a blood draw. Mr. Van Linn refused. (23:3; App. 117). The deputy directed that Mr. Van Linn's blood be drawn anyway without seeking a warrant. (23:3; App. 117).

The state charged Mr. Van Linn with operating while intoxicated and operating with a prohibited alcohol concentration. (11:1-2). Mr. Van Linn moved to suppress the results of the testing of this blood. (12). The state argued the blood draw was justified by exigent circumstances, but the circuit court disagreed. It held that the passing of two hours between the deputy's dispatch and his request for consent did not excuse his failure even to attempt to obtain a warrant. It accordingly suppressed the results of the draw. (18).

About three months after the suppression order, the state moved the court under Wis. Stat. § 968.135 to issue a subpoena for "medical records" to the hospital that had treated Mr. Van Linn. ¹ (21;22). In support, the state provided an affidavit which included the fact that the (suppressed) blood test had shown a prohibited blood alcohol content. (23:4; 6; App. 118). The court signed the subpoena the following day; Mr. Van Linn's counsel sent an email to the judge and assistant district attorney on the same afternoon opposing the subpoena and saying he would file a motion to quash. (26:1). He did later file such a motion,

¹ The state also subpoenaed records from the ambulance company that had transported Mr. Van Linn. (29). This subpoena is not at issue on appeal.

but in the interim the hospital had provided the requested documents. Because the parties had the documents, the court determined that the question of the validity of the subpoena was moot, but reserved the question of whether the documents were admissible. (78:9-10).

The parties briefed the issue. Mr. Van Linn argued that the result of the hospital's blood draw was privileged under Wis. Stat. § 905.04, and also that the court's suppression of the blood draw evidence should prevent the state from using the same evidence reobtained by different means. (32:2-4). After briefing, the court issued a written decision holding the hospital's blood test results admissible. (32; 33; 37; App. 113-14). Mr. Van Linn pleaded no contest. (51:1-2). He appealed the suppression decision. (54; 65); *see* Wis. Stat. § 971.31(10).

The court of appeals affirmed. In an unpublished decision, it held that the subpoena to the hospital satisfied the independent source exception to the exclusionary rule. *State v. Van Linn*, No. 2019AP1317-CR, unpublished slip op. at ¶¶19-24 (WI App. Nov. 17, 2020); App. 109-112.

Mr. Van Linn petitioned this Court for review. Petition of Dec. 16, 2020. The Court ordered a response from the state, which opposed review. Order of February 24, 2021; Response of March 10, 2021. The Court granted review. Order of April 27, 2021.

ARGUMENT

I. The subpoena here, sought after suppression of the illegal police blood draw and with knowledge of its result, was the fruit of the illegality and not an independent source.

Unless a recognized exception applies, the Fourth Amendment prohibits the taking of a drunkdriving suspect's blood without a warrant. *Missouri v*. McNeely, 569 U.S. 141, 148 (2013). Here, the circuit court held that the only warrant exception offered by the state—exigent circumstances—was not satisfied, so it suppressed the results of the blood test ordered by the deputy. (18). This ruling was correct. The passage of two hours between the report of the accident and the officer's request for Mr. Van Linn's blood did not constitute an exigency-particularly when there was no attempt, at any time, to get a warrant, and no attempt to explain why one could not have been sought. See McNeely, 569 U.S. at 163. In any case, the state did not appeal this ruling. See Wis. Stat. § 808.04(4).

What the state did instead was obtain the same information that had been suppressed but by a different means: a subpoena to the hospital for Mr. Van Linn's medical records. But the Fourth Amendment's exclusionary rule does more than forbid the use of evidence that has been illegally seized: it also excludes evidence discovered later as a result of the illegal seizure. This is the "fruit of the poisonous tree" doctrine. See Nardone v. United States, 308 U.S. 338, 341 (1939). And the state's behavior in this case— "remedying" the suppression of information gained by an illegal search with a subpoena for the same information—is strikingly similar to the government's tactics in the seminal fruit-of-the-poisonous-tree case, Silverthorne Lumber Company v. United States, 251 U.S. 385 (1920).

In *Silverthorne*, federal agents without a warrant "made a clean sweep" of all the documents in the company office of two men it had indicted. 251 U.S. at 390. The men challenged the seizure and the court ordered the documents returned to them. Id. at 390-91. The documents were returned, but the government then sought a subpoena for the same documents, in part relying on the knowledge gained by the illegal seizure. The targets of the subpoena refused to comply, and they were held in contempt. Id. at 391. In the Court's words, the government's position was that although the "seizure was an outrage which the Government now regrets, it may study the papers before it returns them, copy them, and then may use the knowledge that it has gained to call upon the owners in a more regular form to produce them." Id.

The Court rejected the government's argument, saying it "reduces the Fourth Amendment to a form of words." *Id.* at 392. It went on:

The essence of a provision forbidding the acquisition of evidence in a certain way is that not merely evidence so acquired shall not be used before the Court but that it shall not be used at all. Of course this does not mean that the facts thus obtained become sacred and inaccessible. If knowledge of them is gained from an independent source they may be proved like any others, but the knowledge gained by the Government's own wrong cannot be used by it in the way proposed.

Id.

In this case, just as in *Silverthorne*, the government violated the Fourth Amendment in taking Mr. Van Linn's blood without a warrant. In this case, as in *Silverthorne*, the court refused to let the government use the illegally-seized evidence directly. And, in this case and that one, the government responded by presenting the court with a subpoena for the same information it had gained by its unlawful acts.

The state contends, however, that the BAC information the subpoena uncovered falls within an exception to the exclusionary rule: the independent source doctrine. This doctrine also has its genesis in *Silverthorne*; in the above-quoted paragraph the Court cautioned that illegally obtained facts do not "become sacred and inaccessible." Such facts may be "proved like any others" provided that "knowledge of them is gained from an independent source"—that is, a source not tainted by illegality.

The Court expanded on the independent source doctrine in *Murray v. United States*, 487 U.S. 533 (1988). In that case, federal agents suspecting a conspiracy to distribute marijuana illegally entered a warehouse and observed "numerous burlap-wrapped bales." *Id.* at 535. The agents left and applied for a search warrant; the application did not mention the illegal entry or what the agents had seen in the warehouse. *Id.* at 535-36. In executing the warrant, the agents again "discovered" (and seized) the marijuana bales.

The Supreme Court held that *if* the warrant was "genuinely independent" of the earlier, illegal entry, then the seized marijuana would be admissible. The warrant would not be genuinely independent, though, in either of two cases: first, "if the agents' decision to seek the warrant was prompted by what they had seen during the initial entry"; second, "if information obtained during that entry was presented to the Magistrate and affected his decision to issue the warrant." *Id.* at 542.

The subpoena here, while not denominated a "warrant," was subject to exactly the same legal requirements applicable to a warrant: it could be issued by a court only on a showing of probable cause. Wis. Stat. § 968.135. The BAC information revealed by this subpoena must be suppressed because the state fails the first prong of the *Murray* test: it cannot show its decision to seek the subpoena was not prompted by the illegal search, for two reasons.

First, the state's decision to seek the subpoena was motivated specifically by the "information obtained" via the unlawful blood draw. *Murray*, 487 U.S. at 542. The state *knew* what the result would be because it had performed the illegal search; this gave it reason to seek the subpoena. This is precisely the position of the government agents in *Silverthorne*, 251 U.S. at 391—the state sought to "use the knowledge that it [had] gained" to obtain the same information in a "more regular form."

Second, the facts here are not like the facts in *Murray* (or the many other cases that have followed *Murray*). The typical independent-source warrant case involves a warrant issued roughly contemporaneously with some illegal act by state agents. The question in these cases is whether the warrant would have issued even if the illegality had not occurred. But one thing that we know in such a case is that the police *did* seek a warrant, even if they also committed illegal acts. It's therefore plausible in these cases (as in *Murray*) to ask whether police would still have sought the warrant if they had refrained from breaking the law. *See, e.g., State v. Carroll,* 2010 WI 8, ¶49, 322 Wis. 2d 299, 778 N.W.2d 1.

The situation here is very different. Here, we know the deputy did *not* seek a warrant for the contents of Mr. Van Linn's body, before or after he performed his search. And when the state did eventually—seek judicial permission to get the BAC information it wanted, it didn't do so independently of the deputy's illegal search. The state's subpoena request was, instead, the direct result of the judicial consequence of that illegal act: suppression. We know this because the state didn't seek the subpoena in March of 2017, when Mr. Van Linn was arrested. It did so ten months later, in January of 2018, after the court had held the trooper's draw unconstitutional. The state would have had no reason to seek a subpoena had the earlier search not been illegal. In *Murray*'s terms, the fact of the earlier illegality—by way of the circuit court's suppression decision— "prompted" the later subpoena.

To call the subpoena here "independent" of the illegal search is thus plainly a fiction. In United States v. Eng, 971 F.2d 854, 860 (2d Cir. 1992), the Second Circuit observed that after-the-fact subpoenas for information previously obtained illegally have the effect of "swallowing the exclusionary rule" such that "special care is required ... when the government relies on the subpoena power." It went on that "[p]articular care is required where, as here. subpoenas are issued after or at the time of the unlawful search." Id. This case is different from Eng. Here it is even clearer that the illegal search prompted the subpoena: the subpoena here wasn't just issued after the unlawful *search*, but also after the circuit court's decision excluding the evidence it uncovered. It was not independent of the illegal search; it was its direct result.

"The purpose of the Fourth Amendment exclusionary rule is to deter unreasonable searches, no matter how probative their fruits." Oregon v. Elstad, 470 U.S. 298, 306 (1985). As *Eng* noted, this purpose can't be met if the state—having violated the law by searching without a warrant-can duck suppression by seeking the equivalent of a warrant months later. The Ninth Circuit also recognized this when it rejected the government's reliance on subpoenas in Center Art Galleries-Hawaii, Inc. v. United States, 875 F.2d 747, 748 (9th Cir. 1989). There, the district court had noted that the subpoenas were served after the illegal search and seizure, when "there was nothing left to discover." In re Motion for Return of Prop. Pursuant to Rule 41, 681 F. Supp. 677, 687 (D. Haw. 1988). This led, said the court, to "the inevitable conclusion that the subpoenas were used as an 'insurance policy' in the event of a subsequent invalidation of the search and seizure." It went on that this "should not be permitted. Such a rule would allow the government to violate the Fourth Amendment with impunity as long as they could obtain a subpoena." Id.

Suppression was the proper result of the deputy's illegal blood draw. The state's subpoena sought to circumvent this result by requesting months too late—the judicial approval the Constitution required for the initial search. The subpoena was not an independent source, but the last link in a chain that began with the unlawful invasion of Mr. Van Linn's body. This court should reject the

10

state's attempt "to violate the Fourth Amendment with impunity."

CONCLUSION

Because the state unlawfully obtained Mr. Van Linn's BAC evidence, and because its later subpoena was not an independent source of that evidence, Mr. Van Linn respectfully requests that this Court vacate his plea, conviction and sentence, and that it remand with directions that the subpoenaed BAC evidence be suppressed.