FILED
06-16-2021
CLERK OF WISCONSIN
SUPREME COURT

# STATE OF WISCONSIN IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2019AP1317-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DANIEL J. VAN LINN,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

ON REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS AFFIRMING A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR OCONTO COUNTY, THE HONORABLE MICHAEL T. JUDGE, PRESIDING

#### BRIEF OF THE PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

JOHN W. KELLIS Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1083400

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

The Fourth Amendment's exclusionary rule does not require the suppression of evidence found in Van Linn's blood sample that was drawn and analyzed independent of government action.

Although Van Linn severely downplays the significance of this fact in his brief, it cannot be overstated that the hospital sample and the police sample are two different pieces of evidence, created for different purposes, and requested by two different authorities. They may have taken the same form and revealed the same type of damaging information about Van Linn's intoxication, but Van Linn's contention that the State would never have uncovered the hospital sample were it not for the suppressed police sample is simply not true. Rather, the State easily concluded from the facts surrounding Van Linn's arrest that any blood sample drawn at the hospital would likely show that his blood had an illegal alcohol concentration.

Nevertheless, Van Linn seeks to exploit the Fourth Amendment to prohibit the State's use of evidence that was

obtained. tested. and preserved without government involvement, and retrieved from an obvious source. Because the record demonstrates that the State obtained the chemical test results of Van Linn's hospital sample from an independent source guided by common sense, not unlawful police action, this Court should affirm.

#### A. The exclusionary rule and the independent source doctrine

"The Fourth Amendment protects '[t]he right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures." Herring v. United States, 555 U.S. 135, 139 (2009) (alteration in original) (quoting Arizona v. Evans, 514 U.S. 1, 10 (1995)). However, the Fourth Amendment "contains no provision expressly precluding the use of evidence obtained in violation of its commands." *Id.* (quoting *Evans*, 514 U.S. at 10).

To that end, the United States Supreme Court established an exclusionary rule that "when applicable, forbids the use of improperly obtained evidence at trial." *Id.* (citing Weeks v. United States, 232 U.S. 383, 398 (1914)). "[T]his judicially created rule is 'designed to safeguard Fourth Amendment rights generally through its deterrent effect." *Id.* at 139–40 (quoting United States v. Calandra, 414 U.S. 338, 348 (1974)).

The exclusionary rule is also designed to "put[] the police in the same, not a worse, position tha[n] they would have been in if no police error or misconduct had occurred." Murray v. United States, 487 U.S. 533, 537 (1988) (quoting *Nix v. Williams*, 467 U.S. 431, 443 (1984)). When "challenged" evidence has an independent source, exclusion of such evidence would put the police in a worse position than they would have been in absent any error or violation." State v.

Page 12 of 25

Carroll, 2010 WI 8, ¶ 44, 322 Wis. 2d 299, 778 N.W.2d 1 (quoting Murray, 487 U.S. at 537).

To determine whether law enforcement obtained evidence from a source independent of a constitutional violation, courts look to two factors: (1) whether, absent the unlawful seizure, police would still have applied for the search warrant, and (2) whether the unlawful seizure influenced the magistrate's decision to grant the search warrant. State v. Gant, 2015 WI App 83, ¶ 16, 365 Wis. 2d 510, 872 N.W.2d 137; see also Murray, 487 U.S. at 542. Concerning the test's second prong—whether the magistrate's decision was influenced—the central inquiry is whether "the untainted evidence [in the subpoena application] is sufficient to support a finding of probable cause to issue the [subpoena]." Carroll, 322 Wis. 2d 299, ¶ 44.

# B. Van Linn's hospital sample test results were obtained from an independent source, untainted by illegal activity, and suppression was therefore inappropriate.

The court of appeals correctly decided that the independent source doctrine precluded suppression of the blood alcohol concentration results found in Van Linn's hospital sample. See Van Linn, 2020 WL 6733500, ¶ 2; (PetApp. 102). This Court should affirm. The State did not need the suppressed police sample results to recognize that Van Linn's hospital records would contain inculpatory evidence. Deputy School's observations of Van Linn at the time of his arrest and his investigation of the crime scene provided ample grounds to believe that any blood sample taken from Van Linn after the accident would reveal evidence of intoxication. The State sensibly sought physical evidence of Van Linn's intoxication from an obvious source based on Deputy School's investigation, and suppression of the hospital sample results would have no deterrent effect on police misconduct while

placing the State in a worse position than if no unlawful search had occurred.

1. The affidavit supporting the subpoena for Van Linn's medical records was sufficient to establish probable cause even after excising the suppressed police sample test result.

To begin, Van Linn does not argue that the circuit court's decision to authorize the challenged subpoena turned on the chemical results derived from the police sample. (See Van Linn's Br. 4–11.) Thus, there should be no question that Murray's second prong was satisfied because the unlawful search for the police sample did not influence the court's decision to authorize the subpoena for Van Linn's hospital sample results. Indeed, after excising the police sample's result, the State's four-page affidavit easily established probable cause that Van Linn's hospital sample would contain evidence of a crime. (See R. 23.)

Certainly, any reasonable magistrate would believe that Van Linn's hospital records would contain evidence of intoxication or an illegal blood alcohol concentration after reading that Van Linn—a perennial drunk driver subject to a reduced prohibited alcohol concentration limit—drove off the road at bar time, struck a tree, confused that tree for another vehicle, crashed into a building, fled on foot, lied to police about his involvement in the crash, smelled of alcohol, admitted to consuming multiple drinks, and refused to submit to a blood test upon an officer's request. (See R. 23.)

Simply put, the circuit court's decision to issue the subpoena for hospital records containing Van Linn's medical sample results was not "influenced" by the single reference to the suppressed police sample result given that the above-listed facts contained in the supporting affidavit, which were

all discovered through lawful police conduct, were more than sufficient to support the necessary probable cause finding. *See Carroll*, 322 Wis. 2d 299,  $\P$  44.

# 2. The State would have pursued Van Linn's hospital sample results even absent the unlawful search.

Having established that the unlawful police sample did not influence the circuit court's decision to authorize the subpoena for medical records containing the results of the hospital sample, this Court must next decide whether law enforcement's unlawful conduct prompted the State to pursue the results of Van Linn's hospital sample months later. *See Murray*, 487 U.S. at 542. In other words, would the State have thought to subpoena Van Linn's medical records in the absence of the information obtained from the warrantless blood draw and the police sample?

This Court should hold that the unlawful search did not impermissibly motivate the State to pursue Van Linn's medical records because, regardless of the police sample, the facts known to police at the time of Van Linn's accident and arrest would lead a reasonable officer to believe that any blood samples drawn from Van Linn would contain evidence of an unlawful blood alcohol concentration.

For starters, it cannot be overstressed that Deputy School's decision to request the police sample from Van Linn did not lead the State to seek out other inculpatory evidence in an odd or unusual place. Undoubtedly, Van Linn's case does not present the typical fruit-of-the-poisonous-tree scenario whereby police officers use ill-gotten information from their unlawful conduct to uncover an avenue to inculpatory evidence that would have otherwise remained undiscovered. On the contrary, even a minimally experienced police officer would recognize that any blood samples drawn from a

suspected drunk driver would yield evidence of his or her intoxication, regardless of who ordered the blood drawn.

Here, before the police sample was drawn and tested, Deputy School already suspected that Van Linn's blood would contain evidence of his intoxication. Otherwise, he would have had no reason to order a warrantless blood draw after medical personnel finished treating Van Linn's injuries.

The court of appeals recognized this when it noted that "police reasonably suspected Van Linn of—and arrested him for—OWI even before law enforcement had any inkling of what a blood test would reveal." Van Linn, 2020 WL 6733500, ¶ 24; (Pet-App. 112). The affidavit supporting the subpoena for hospital records revealed that police knew, on the evening of his arrest, that Van Linn (1) had four prior OWI convictions, (2) was subject to a reduced prohibited alcohol concentration limit, (3) had driven off the road at bar time, confused the tree he struck for another vehicle, and slammed his SUV into a building, (4) immediately fled from the scene and lied to police about his involvement in the crash, (5) smelled of alcohol during police contact, (6) admitted that he had been drinking, and (7) refused a blood test upon request. (R. 23:1-4.)

From this, the conclusion that any blood sample taken from Van Linn that day would be inculpatory was logical. And to argue, as Van Linn now does, that an entirely separate blood draw (the police sample) prompted the State to seek out his hospital records is to ignore how obvious it was that inculpatory evidence would be found in any blood samples drawn from his body on the morning of his arrest. Indeed, based on analogous facts, the Superior Court of Pennsylvania concluded that the independent source doctrine permitted the admission of a drunk driver's medical records even though the District Attorney's Office had previously obtained the exact

same records unlawfully. Commonwealth v. Lloyd, 948 A.2d 875 (Pa. Super. 2008).

Like Deputy School, officers in Lloyd arrested a man suspected of violating the state's impaired driving laws. *Id.* at 878. Like Van Linn, Lloyd was taken to the hospital for injuries he sustained prior to his OWI arrest. Id. And like the hospital staff who treated Van Linn, medical personnel drew blood from Lloyd solely for treatment purposes and not at law enforcement's direction. Id. at 878 & n.8. The District Attorney's Office then secured Lloyd's hospital records through a subpoena for documents instead of a search warrant as required by law. Id. at 878–79. As a result, the records were ordered suppressed. Id.

Thereafter, aware of Lloyd's blood test results by virtue of the unlawful subpoena, the District Attorney's Office directed a police sergeant to investigate Lloyd's case. See id. at 879–80. Unsurprisingly, the sergeant prepared an affidavit and search warrant to obtain the same hospital records the District Attorney's Office had previously obtained. *Id.* at 879. Like Van Linn, Lloyd unsuccessfully moved to suppress those hospital records, arguing that the warrant "was tainted by information obtained by way of an earlier improper subpoena for those same records." *Id*.

Applying Murray's two-prong inquiry, the Superior Court of Pennsylvania held that the independent source doctrine allowed for the hospital records' admission at trial. Id. at 881. The court examined whether the evidence would have been obtained independent of the initial illegal activity. Id. at 882. It noted that the police department's investigation into Lloyd's arrest "consisted of little more than their own observations on the night of the incident," which "were, of themselves, adequate to support the probable cause suspicion that [Lloyd] was driving under the influence of alcohol." Id. The court also recognized that police could have successfully

sought a search warrant for Lloyd's medical records after the hospital completed its blood alcohol concentration testing. *Id.* Finally, the court noted that the search warrant application did not mention the illegally-obtained blood test results. *Id.* 

Based on the record before it, the court held that "cause to search [Lloyd]'s medical records (and attendant BAC test results) would have existed despite the improperly-served subpoena and that, unquestionably, a warrant would have issued by the magisterial district judge absent the initial, illegal procurement of the medical records by the District Attorney's Office." *Id*.

Admittedly, unlike Lloyd, the supporting affidavit in this case contained the unlawfully obtained blood test result. But as previously noted, Van Linn does not dispute that the State's affidavit was sufficient even if the suppressed blood test results were excised. See supra p. 9. Moreover, although the District Attorney's Office employed another police officer to insulate the investigation from the unlawfully discovered information, it cannot be ignored that the sergeant never would have applied for a warrant in Lloyd's case had the District Attorney's Office (the entity that knew the suppressed results) not directed him to investigate the matter in the first place. Despite that fact, the Superior Court of Pennsylvania still decided that the independent source doctrine aptly applied to allow for the admission of Lloyd's medical records, even though they were the exact same evidence that the State had previously obtained unlawfully. *Lloyd*, 948 A.2d at 882.

The Supreme Court of Washington employed a similar analysis in *State v. Gaines*, 116 P.3d 993 (Wash. 2005). The court applied the independent source doctrine to evidence initially discovered during a warrantless search of an automobile trunk but later seized after police applied for a search warrant of the same location. Like Van Linn, Gaines

Filed 06-16-2021

argued that the State could not satisfy *Murray* without showing that police would have sought the warrant for the trunk absent the earlier illegal search. *Id.* at 998. The court disagreed, concluding that the police would have otherwise obtained the items "through the course of predictable police procedures" because they would have sought a search warrant for the suspect's trunk based on facts gathered independently from the improper search. *Id.* at 998. As a result, the court held that the independent source doctrine applied. *Id.* at 998–99.

The holdings of *Lloyd* and *Gaines* make sense when considering the nature of police work and the exclusionary rule's purpose. Law enforcement *should* be prevented from exploiting a prior unlawful search to pursue an avenue of investigation that would have gone unnoticed had police not trampled on a defendant's rights. But where, as here and as in *Lloyd* and *Gaines*, the State uses an untainted path to obtain evidence that it would have discovered without the preceding illegality, the concerns animating the exclusionary rule simply are not implicated.

Still, Van Linn makes two observations that, in his opinion, show that the decision to seek evidence of his hospital sample was prompted by evidence discovered from the police sample: (1) the State was already aware of the police sample's results when it sought his hospital records; and (2) the State did not seek out his hospital records until after the circuit court had suppressed the police sample's results. (Van Linn's Br. 7–9.) But neither point undermines the undeniable conclusion that the independent source doctrine applies in this case.

Van Linn's first argument fails largely because the State's awareness of the suppressed police sample results does not demonstrate that its decision to seek pertinent hospital records "was motivated specifically by the

'information obtained' via the unlawful blood draw" as he contends. (Van Linn's Br. 8.) Van Linn simply assumes that the suppressed chemical test results were responsible. But the State has already explained how the facts known to police before Van Linn's arrest would lead any reasonable officer to conclude that evidence of intoxication would be found in his blood. See supra pp. 10-11. The suppressed police sample results were not necessary to reach that obvious conclusion.

Indeed, the State would have been remiss to ignore the existence of the hospital sample results even if the police sample had yielded a negligible or nonexistent blood alcohol concentration. Again, this case involves two distinct blood samples drawn from Van Linn at two distinct times; even if the later (suppressed) blood draw result had shown no alcohol in Van Linn's system, there was reason to pursue his hospital records to examine whether his blood contained trace alcohol quantities when drawn earlier that morning, closer to the time of his crash.

Van Linn also draws a strained comparison between his facts and those in Silverthorne Lumber Co. v. United States, 251 U.S. 385 (1920), where the Supreme Court held that federal agents were not entitled to subpoena records that were initially discovered during an unlawful, warrantless sweep of the defendants' business. (Van Linn's. Br. 5-6.) Silverthorne does not help Van Linn. There, absent the unlawful "clean sweep" of the defendants' place of business, government agents would not have known of the documents it intended to reobtain by subpoena. Silverthorne, 251 U.S. at 390-91.

At the risk of becoming a broken record, the facts known to police at the time of Van Linn's arrest would have caused any reasonable police officer to believe that Van Linn's blood contained an unlawful alcohol concentration. See supra p. 10-11. This was simply not a situation, as in *Silverthorne*, where

police officers would not have known of the existence of inculpatory evidence absent prior unlawful activity.

Van Linn's second unpersuasive point is that the State sought his hospital records only after it lost the suppression motion. (Van Linn's Br. 8–9.) The court of appeals made short shrift of that argument, astutely recognizing that the sequence of the State's subpoena request and the circuit court's suppression order simply did not matter. See Van *Linn*, 2020 WL 6733500, ¶ 22; (Pet-App. 110–11). The court appropriately observed that the fruits of an unlawful search do not impermissibly prompt an ensuing investigation where "police seek different, lawfully obtained evidence that is otherwise known to be available to them." Id. (emphasis added).

Here, the results from the police sample did not inform the State that medical personnel had also drawn and tested the hospital sample from Van Linn's body earlier that morning, nor did the police sample identify what the results of the hospital sample would be. (See R. 15.) In fact, Deputy School's actions at the hospital seemingly played no role in the State discovering that Van Linn's blood was previously drawn to aid in his treatment earlier that morning. Because the State sought out evidence that was otherwise available to them and not uncovered by unconstitutional police conduct, the precise timing of the State's subpoena request is nothing but a red herring; the request for Van Linn's hospital sample was simply not prompted by the drawing and testing of the police sample.

None of the remaining authorities cited by Van Linn rebuts this simple conclusion. He offers *United States v. Eng*, 971 F.2d 854 (2nd Cir. 1992), for the principle that "after-thefact subpoenas for information previously obtained illegally have the effect of 'swallowing the exclusionary rule' such that 'special care is required ... when the government relies on the

subpoena power," particularly where the subpoena is requested after the unlawful search. (Van Linn's Br. 9.) Yet Van Linn conspicuously fails to acknowledge that the Second Circuit ultimately determined that *none* of the evidence that the government obtained by subpoena following an earlier unlawful search was unconstitutionally obtained in that case. See United States v. Eng, 997 F.2d 987 (2nd Cir. 1993).

Van Linn also cites *Center Art Galleries-Hawaii, Inc. v. United States*, 875 F.2d 747 (9th Cir. 1989), and the underlying district court decision for the principle that a subpoena for records should not serve as an "insurance policy" to protect the fruits of an earlier unlawful search or seizure. (Van Linn's Br. 10.) But the Ninth Circuit's analysis involved the application of the inevitable discovery doctrine—not the independent source doctrine central to this case—and the court's decision was clearly fueled by the government's inability to prove that a later subpoena would have uncovered the same evidence. *See Center Art Galleries*, 875 F.2d at 754–55.

In short, by seeking out medical records for evidence of a drunk driver's intoxication, the State was in no way trying to "violate the Fourth Amendment with impunity" as Van Linn exaggerates. (See Van Linn's Br. 10–11.) The State merely pursued relevant evidence that was produced and preserved without government involvement in a place where basic common sense would prescribe. Thus, the independent source doctrine aptly applied to the State's request for Van Linn's hospital records because it was not prompted by unlawful police activity. See Murray, 487 U.S. at 542.

# 3. Evidence suppression would not deter police misconduct, and it would place the State in a worse position than had no unlawful search occurred.

This Court's decision should be guided by the purpose of the exclusionary rule and the interests it protects: deterring police misconduct while putting the State in no worse position than it would be if no misconduct had occurred. *Herring*, 555 U.S. at 139–40; *Murray*, 487 U.S. at 537. The State submits that suppressing Van Linn's medical records in this case will do nothing to curb police misconduct, and it will instead place the State in a worse position than if Deputy School did nothing to seek Van Linn's blood sample following his arrest.

Sadly, history tells us that drunk drivers like Van Linn will continue to plague Wisconsin's roadways, and some drivers will require emergency medical treatment when they crash. When that occurs, officers like Deputy School will find themselves in an unfortunate Catch-22: apply for a search warrant at the risk that the driver's blood alcohol concentration will completely dissipate by the time the warrant is authorized and executed, or order warrantless blood draw at the risk that a court may someday second-guess the officer's on-scene exigent circumstance evaluation.

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